GSA-FORMS Electronic Forms System
Solicitation Number : GS00V06PDC0001
Questions and Answers October 17, 2205
1. The RFP says that the current forms are in a form format of Formnet, Formflow, and Adobe PDF. Can you tell us what format the associated data is in?

Answer:  The data conversion is only needed from the FormNet and Accessible FormNet format.
2. Are the data fields common regardless of the form format?

Answer:  See 1. above. 
3. Are you currently using one or more 508 compliancy testing tools? If so, which ones?

Answer:  When the Government tests for Section 508 compliance we use several of the popular COTS testing tools as well as human testers with blindness using screen readers (JAWS and Win-Eyes), while also using several browsers.
4. Are you currently using a digital signature standard?  If so, which one?

Answer:  Yes.  ANSI X509v3 signing document certificates.  Also see certification requirements at www.cio.gov/FBCA , and SOW at 3.24.4.
5. Can you give a percentage of the forms that will be used by employees of the federal government and those used by non-federal users?

Answer:  There are no statistics available to accurately answer this question.

6. Can you provide an estimate of the number and type of systems that this system might need to integrate with? (i.e. HR, Security, IT. Peoplesoft, Oracle, etc.)

Answer:  No. We have no inventory.  Integration to legacy or backroom systems is not a requirement of this solicitation.  Vendors should assume we will feed the data to applications in the standard ways required in the RFP including XML format, delimited file or ODBC compliant database format.
7. Does GSA have an enterprise license for a Data Base Management System?  If so, which one(s).

Answer:  The users are not just GSA.  We would expect the receiving database to be ODBC compliant.  Otherwise the agency is responsible to engineer their integration from this tool to their databases.  The vendor will propose their technical solution related to database environment and management which will be evaluated by the Technical Review Committee.

8. Would you please elaborate on what is expected in the first 90 days of the effort with respect to forms that must be converted in this time frame and the required C&A requirements in this time frame?

Answer:  As stated in the solicitation, the desire is to convert approximately 700 forms from the current forms environment to the awarded vendor’s solution.  The C&A requirements are for the forms processing requirement and available from the GSA ISSM and must be fulfilled in order to receive Authority to Operate.
9. Can the past performance include both prime and proposed subcontractors?

Answer:  Yes

10. Please elaborate on the current Eform software currently being utilized. Also if it is a suite of products which products are installed.   

Answer:  This solicitation is for a requirement and requests proposals for forms solution regardless of what is currently installed.  The current FormNet  and Accessible FormNet product by Intercon is being utilized by GSA.  As stated we also have forms available in PDF and some in Formflow.
11. Is the GSA interested in using the STARS contracting vehicle for this RFP?
Answer:  No, this is an open competition for qualified small business vendors.

12. It appears that the only differences between this solicitation and the previous version, GS00V05PDR002, are modifications to sections 3.2 & 3.5. Please confirm that these are the only changes or,  if there are other difference, could the Government point bidders to and other modifications, deletions, or additions?    

Answer:  Yes, the only changes in the solicitations are in the Paragraphs 3.2 and 3.5.

13. The change in section is 3.2 appears to be very minimal.  (The  phrase in GS00V05PDR002 "to replicate the existing forms of the Government and then modify any form created by the tool" was replaced in the new solicitation with the phrase "and to revise or modify existing forms.") Could the Government explain the significance and intent of this change?

Answer:  The purpose of this change was to provide clarification that we will use the form creator tool to develop new forms as well as modify forms.
14. Please clarify what the Government is seeking in Section 3.5 it when it states "The offeror shall offer a Forms Creator Service that permits limited Government users to develop new forms and revise and modify existing forms."   Does the Government envision any ongoing contractor services to develop and modify forms? Alternatively, if Government personnel will perform these services, how many seats of the forms creator software is required?

Answer:  Yes, the Government expects to utilize a commercial form development service to develop new forms and modify forms, at low volumes and indefinite quantities, over the life of the contract.  Based on the evaluation of proposals, the Government could accept contractor provided forms creation.  The number of seats for government users of the form creator tool has not been determined, but any requirement will be for a small numbers.  It depends on how many using organizations want to train and develop or modify forms themselves or use the commercial service offering.  Vendors will price each approach so the Government can use either approach in an indefinite quantity.
15. Has GSA proactively reached out and communicated with ANY of the down select vendors in this process? 

Answer:  No debriefings have been conducted because an award was not made.

16. Regarding the new language in sections 3.2 and 3.5:  "...the functionality to create new forms....and to revise or modify existing forms."--   What is driving this request?    

Answer:  These are clarifications to the solicitation.
17. How do you revise or modify existing forms without re-creating them unless you're using the same product that created them in the first place.
Answer:  One can’t. The vendor proposal will address the conversion and modification of existing forms into their environment if different from the present vendor.  Then, all vendors will offer tools and services to develop new forms or modify forms.
18. Please clarify the term of the contract - 1 base year with 4 one year options.
Answer:  As stated the first year is the base year and then government may exercise four additional sequential one-year extensions, at the option of the Government.   If the Government exercises all contract period options it will result in a five year contract.  The base year will begin at the time of acceptance, Acceptance testing will not be complete until the forms conversion is complete.  
19. Are all GSA 700 current forms in the Accessible FormNet Format? If not, how many are in the Accessible FormNet Format?
Answer:  The actual number of forms can be determined from reviewing the catalog.  The formats are a mixture of PDF, FormNet, Accessible FormNet, and Formflow. All current forms are scanned into a PDF file and then processed to receive the overlaid using fillable PDF format,  Accessible FormNet or FormNet depending on win and why the forms were being made electronic. 
20. Please reference 3.22 Conversion of Existing Forms and Migration Requirements.
a. Is this requirement to convert all of GSA's 700 current forms?
Answer:  Yes.  The exact number is all forms in the catalog (currently 718).
b. Will GSA designers convert the forms or is this the contractor's responsibility?

Answer:  This is a contractor’s responsibility and should be priced accordingly.
c. What about new forms? Who is responsible?
Answer:  New forms, or forms revised after initial conversion, and revisions thereafter will be developed either by the government using the forms designer tool provided or by the contractor in the service offering under Section 3.5.
d. What about form maintenance i.e. changes, updates, etc? Who is responsible?
Answer:  See 20c., above
21. Please reference 2.0 Scope of Work, Section 3.22 Conversion of Existing Forms and Migration Requirements.
a. Is GSA requiring the conversion of 700 forms/1,400 pages in several formats i.e. Accessible FormNet, FormFlow, and PDF by February 15, 2006?
Answer:  All forms in the current GSA catalog are desired to complete conversion to the new format within 90 days of contract award.  Vendors are to review the current catalog for the exact number and pages.  700 forms at 2 pages are only a magnitude estimate by the government currently 718.  Vendors’ proposals will each address their proposed timeframe and prices.
b. Considering an award date of November 15, 2005, that would provide 3 months to convert 700 forms/1,400 page or 224 forms/467 pages per month, is this the GSA's Requirement?
Answer:  No, the timing is a GSA desire.  However, very long conversion periods may have an economic impact on the Government that will be taken into consideration.
c. If this is the GSA Requirement, respectfully request this requirement become more reasonable, 225 forms/450 pages per year or become subject of separate procurement. 
Answer:  The Government cannot afford to take 4 years to transition from one form to another. As stated, the 90 days is not a requirement and subject to technical review of all vendor proposals.

d.  This requirement seems severely biased toward the incumbent - Intercom Associates, Inc. and should be altered in the spirit of leveling the playing field.
Answer: Conversion is a normal cost of any system acquisition and transition.  Prices are evaluated over the system life of 5 years so conversion cost, while significant, is not the primary cost element.  This solicitation is not biased towards any specific vendor.

22. Please reference 5.0 Test and Acceptance
a. Is the Milestone Checklist to be included in the Technical Proposal or delivered after award?
Answer:  Proposed milestones should be included in the technical proposal but specific dates will be agreed upon or after contract award.

b. Is the test and acceptance plan to be included in the Technical Proposal or delivered after award?
Answer:  High level test and acceptance plans should be discussed in the technical proposal but specific dates will occur after contract award.

23. Please reference Cost Proposal.  What is the period of time, options?
Answer:  The contract is for a base year for the first year following acceptance and four one-year options is  the requirement.

24. Does the current vendor and product, InterCon Associates, Inc., Assessible FormNet, fully comply with the requirements of GSA RFQ GSOOV06PD00001?
Answer:  That evaluation has not been performed.  All technical proposals will be evaluated on their merits against the SOW.  All technical evaluations will occur after proposals are received.

25. Since GSA has already acquired 130,000 Assessible FormNet Licenses will these 130, 000 licenses be included in the evaluation? Does a non-incumbent vendor have to provide an additional cost of these licenses?
Answer:  As is normal, the current system is considered sunk costs.  The evaluation will consider what is contained in each proposal with only the new and conversion costs considered and no consideration of sunk costs.
26. How many form design software products does GSA require? Please reference this requirement is the SOW.
Answer:  The quantity is unknown, but a small number.  The vendors’ should offer so the government may acquire an indefinite number.
27. How many form design locations? Please reference the requirement in the SOW.
Answer:  The locale for the contract is Washington, DC.  The number of locations depends on the number of form designer tools we acquire.  If we request that the contractor to provide implementation or training at another locations, the government will pay for that travel in accordance with the Joint Federal Travel Regulations and billed as Other Direct Cost Billed (ODCB).  A contractor may actually have the forms conversion and new form development performed at any location, if disclosed, as long as the Government’s contact point for meetings and contract management is Washington, DC. The Government pays no travel to Washington, DC.  Software and development performed outside the United States must be disclosed with proper assurance provided to meet all of the laws of regulations of U.S. Government and Federal procurements. 
28. Please reference the previous RFP# GSOOV05PD00021.

a. Was an award made?
Answer:  No.  Award was not made because a vendor protest on the solicitation.
b. If there was award, please provide the company name and contract amount.

Answer:  No award was made.
29. Please reference ITEM 4 CONVERSION OF EXISTING FORMS and GSA Forms SOW 2.3: Of the GSA 700 form repository - please supply the number of forms which are:

a. Accessible FormNet

b. FormFlow

c. Adobe PDF's (static vs. fillable)

Answer:  Our inventory does not detail the break out requested.  The total number of forms, as stated in the RFP is approximately 700 (718 currently) and all are available in PDF and/ or Accessible FormNet.  You may visit the GSA online forms Web site (www.GSA.gov /  forms ) to review the details. 
d. Number which have "signing" requirements

Answer:  GSA’s current inventory of forms does have the signing capability on some forms but not of the new standards requested in this RFP.  Government policy is now to have all authentication in accordance the standards and polices stated in the SOW and here within.
e. Are the ("Other-Forms") mentioned (200) on page three of the SOW included in the 700 or in addition to? If so, are they also in the above mentioned software formats?

Answer:  The total for initial conversion is the current catalog of approximately 700 forms (718 currently).  We expect the number of forms to grow.

The RFP said  “The estimated number of public facing forms that are contained in the current GSA library is approximately 700, and is estimated to increase 20 percent per year.  The average number of pages per form is two.  

2.3  The scope includes all tools for forms creation, user filling, and processing, for GSA forms, standard and optional forms, OMB forms and “other-forms” of other agencies already in our library (“Other-Forms”), and replacements and revisions for all of those forms.  GSA agrees to place a maximum on the numbers of “Other-forms” to 200 current active forms beyond the unlimited use for GSA Forms, Standard Forms, Optional forms and OMB Forms.  Additional licenses for “Other-forms” (above the 200) may be acquired by the Government in increments of 200.  
So the license offers should license offer should anticipate covering all GSA, Standard and optional forms, plus up to 200 others.  If the vendors are not offering a blanket license to use for these purposes, the pricing should be considering incrementally more forms.  GSA agrees to the limits above.

f. If within a form, there exists business rules - will the business rules be made available?
Answer:  There are few business rules implemented in the current forms set.  We will work with the contractor identify which forms may have business rules built in that need to be included upon conversion.  Otherwise we can assume no business rules for now.
g. Of the forms included in this RFP, what are the top ten most frequently used forms and the top ten agencies which access those forms?

Answer:  Our current arrangement does not track that information.
30. Please reference ITEM 6: CONVERSION OF USER DATA (DESIRABLE) and GSA Forms SOW - 1.4 STATEMENT OF PURPOSE - in the SOW p.2 paragraph 2, "to migrate the data from the existing form tool client to the provided tool. Many customers store libraries of data such as personnel performance evaluation) in the current client, that they would not want to have to re-key stroke)".  Is GSA requesting the vendor to provide data migration services from a proprietary format to another format (if so, what is the legacy format)?

Answer:  Yes.  The legacy format is FormNet and Accessible FormNet.
31. Please reference APPENDIX 1- CERTIFICATION AND ACCREDITATION (C&A) PLANNING DOCUMENT & SOW - 3.20 SECURITY OBJECTIVES - 3.20.1; 3.20.2 & 3.20.3 (p. 8).  Is it GSA's position, within the scope and budget of this RFP, the vendor is expected to provide the documentation and services to fulfill the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-130 and National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Special Publications 800-37; and GSA Security Policies for the certification and accreditation process?

Answer:  No, a third party security testing firm develops and performs the C&A including external and internal probes of the system.  However, the contractor must provide specific documentation and access to information and systems and fully answer questions to permit the C&A to be completed.  If there are security or privacy issues that need to resolved, that fall within purview of the contractor or offered software, the contractor will have to close those gaps.  If the prime contractor is not the source of the software, the software developer must offer to meet these obligations through the prime offer.  If Government C&As elsewhere have already performed on the offerred system, that would be of interest to GSA.
32. Please reference SOW - 3.0 SYSTEM REQUIREMENTS - 3.3.6 & 3.3.7 (p. 5).  Will there be a requirement for access of a database table which requires LDAP and/or any other end-user authentication?

Answer:  The technical proposal shall provide the capabilities of their systems to pre-fill form fields, as stated in the RFP. There is no specification on how that is to be done.
33. Please reference SOW - 3.0 SYSTEM REQUIREMENTS - 3.4.2 (p. 6). What is GSA's preferred database software platform?

Answer:  GSA will not be the only agency recipient of data from electronic forms – other agencies will as well. GSA expects at backend data base interfaces to be OBDC compliant. Vendors are required to propose what is suited to their products and there is no prescribed database solution. Agencies will be responsible for developing interfaces their systems and any conversion necessary for non-ODBC compliant data bases.
34. Please reference SOW - 3.22 CONVERSION OF EXISTING FORMS AND MIGRATION REQUIREMENTS (p. 12).  Please clarify what the GSA requirement of the vendor within 90 days after the award (is it a single form which meets the requirements outlined)?

Answer:  The desired outcome is the conversion of all forms in the GSA catalog to the winning contractor’s format within 90 days.  Vendors will propose their capabilities, timeframes and prices.
35. Please reference SOW - 7.0 PLACE OF PERFORMANCE (p. 14).  Regarding the location of the contractor's conversion and help facilities - what information will the GSA require concerning the place of performance?

Answer:  The locale for this contract is Washington, DC.  A contractor may actually have the conversion and help function performed at any location, if disclosed, as long as the Government’s contact point is available  for meetings in Washington, DC.  Software and development performed outside the United States must be disclosed with proper assurance provided to meet all of the laws of regulations applicable to a U.S. Government procurement.  
36. Please reference SOW -11.0 ADMINISTRATIVE CONSIDERATIONS (p. 15):  Will the GSA have a project manager and/or team available for the duration of the project as well as the necessary resources available to review the forms as they are converted?

Answer:  Yes, GSA will have a program manager and technical staff to work with the awarded vendor.

37. Please reference SOW - 14.1 SECURITY CLEARANCE/INVESTIGATION PROCEDURES (p. 18).  Given the forms covered under this SOW are generally available - please outline the requirement for NACIC security clearance.

Answer:  The security clearance requirement applies to the forms processing functions where the contractor personnel may come in contact with live data.  This is specified in the governing security documents, such as, NIST 800-37.

38. Please reference SOW -15.0 OTHER (p. 21).  If a vendor/contractor is proposing Option 1 (Enterprise Licenses), will the requirements outlined in this section still apply?  "The contractor shall be responsible for installing the latest security patches and also for hardening all servers using the GSA approved Hardening Guides? "  "The contractor shall be responsible for backup and restoration procedures for all equipment? "
Answer:  If GSA provides hosting, GSA will be responsible for those functions such as hardening servers and implementing security patches.  Patching and updates to application and related COTS software under this contract will be the responsibility of the contractor.
39. Since the GSA Forms are "common use" forms utilized by the Federal/State/Local Governments and the public, has GSA conducted a survey of the Top 10 Users to determine their requirements

ANSWER:  We do not know the highest volume forms. Our current arrange does not provide that information.
40. Please reference the RFP Item 3, was this intended in the last paragraph by describing a transaction fee for back-end forms processing under the requirement to price Creating and Posting Forms?

Answer:  No.  That is incorrect and a mistake in the RFP document. 

It said – “Provide a price for transaction fees (if any) or click charges (if any) to process completed forms through an agency back end or back officer server(s) when required, to include any software or hardware requirements.”

It should have said - Provide unit prices for normal level  and priority level forms creation services as described above.
41. Please reference the RFP Item 5, why is digital signature described under Section 508 Compliance Validation?

Answer:  Your question highlights an error in the header of Item 5 of the RFP which is too narrowly scoped for the text below.

It said -   “ITEM 5:  SECTION 508 COMPLIANCE VALIDATION”
It should have said  - “ITEM 5:  FORMS COMPLIANCE  AND VALIDATION SERVICES”

The services are to check and validate all of the items mentioned and provide feedback to the requestor.
42. Please clarify. The terminology "processing" is used quite often. Is "processing" and electronic submission of a forms one in the same?  As it pertains to Forms Creation throughout the RFP and SOW it is unclear as to whether the government intends to acquire a product for use by government employees in creating forms or a service to create forms for the government, or both? Please distinguish between a product and a service.

Answer:  Processing refers to electronically accepting forms filled in by users, and providing the form and / or data to the destination system in the format requested, and maintaining logs and controls.

The solicitation request both forms creation tools for Government users and service offering to do the same – so the Government, throughout the contract, has a choice of develop it themselves or have a service do them for them.

43. Can you name the incumbent? 

Answer:  Since this is a new solicitation, there is no incumbent.
44. What is the current COTS product for the Eforms 
Answer:  See 29, above.
45. Since the current pricing model is now considered unacceptable what other pricing models are acceptable 

Answer:  Pricing models will be considered that do not include click or other charges to the government or uses to get a form, filling it, or transmitting it.  Users getting clients should not have to register or fill out any information to obtain the client (if any).
46. Can a winning respondent take over the existing infrastructure? 
Answer:  The catalog is hosted on GSA servers.  In the future it will host the filler client (if any) download site.  GSA is responsible for supplying the host server infrastructure for the government hosted solution.  The vendors are to include in their proposals the hosting environment requirements for all software.  Any hosting for the service options are the responsibility of the contractor. 
47. . . . If not, do we need to account for new hardware to host the system?
Answer:  The vendor should inform the government in the proposal of the hosting environment requirements.  The government is responsible for supplying the host server infrastructure for the Government hosted solution.
48. How many current GSA online fill-able  forms are in PDF format
Answer:  Most GSA forms are available in PDF however our inventory is not detailed to tell us all of the versions of each form.  

49. How would criteria related to "desirable" be scored if we do not include the desirables?  (eg. Mac OS of compatibility is desired)
Answer:  Desirable requirements will be scored as above and beyond meeting the minimum stated requirement.  If a desirable feature cannot be met, it is still otherwise responsive and the proposal will be considered overall in weighing best value.
50. Is the government prepared to host the "forms processing system" as an alternative to contractor hosting?
Answer:  Yes, the Government will have that ready as we prepare to implement forms processing system. However, the solicitation provides for Government hosting, and desirable for the Government to have an option for contractor hosting. ( See 3.24.4)
51. Does the government have its own or (recommended) protocol for handling digital signatures?
Answer:  Yes. See 3.1.3 of the SOW.   Also see question 4 above.

52. What is the government's choice for where the data from the forms processing system be stored?  
Answer:  We are interested in reading the capabilities of vendors for this feature.  From our reading of the question, and the SOW, data could be stored on the forms processing system, which could be a server.  Then data is transmitted to the receiving legacy system.  Our example is only illustrative and does not restrict the configurations that can be proposed or awarded.
53. Would you be willing to extend the deadline to this SOW?
Answer:  There has been a two week extension granted.
54. SOW Reads: 3.23 CONVERSION OF USER DATA It is desirable that within 90 days after award, the vendor shall have a method (a tool and / or services) to convert form-filler data from Accessible FormNet formatted forms to the new form environment.  What is the format of the data collected via FormNet forms?
Answer:  The current formats of most forms are Accessible FormNet and PDF.

55. SOW Reads: 3.20.1  The contractor shall be required to develop SDLC documentation to support the smooth operations of the GSA eForms system.  Are all vendors required to submit the SDLC documentation with their proposals or only the selected vendor?
Answer:  The transition concept should be presented in the technical proposal.  Detailed documentation of project plans shall be required 40 days after contract award.
56. Page 2 of “RFQ E-FORMS(Modification).doc” reads: “Electronic copies shall be submitted on a Compact Disk (CD).  What is the purpose of this sentence and what is expected of vendors to provide?
Answer:  An electronic copy of the proposal shall be provided on a compact disk for distribution to evaluation team members and as a record.  The technical proposal (4 copies) should be on a different CD from the price proposal (2 copies).
57. Page 3 of “RFQ E-FORMS(Modification).doc” reads: “Non-Public Company – Please provide copies of Pro Forma Statements for last three years.”  Would “Profit & Loss” or “Income Statements” for the past 3 years suffice?

Answer:  Yes.  Vendors shall provide suitable documentation assure financial history and responsibility to support this contract over the contract term. 
